I. INTRODUCTION 

BNBuilders ("BNB"), appellant, seeks review of the Superior 

Court decision aftinning a Washington Industrial Safety and Health 

("WISHA") Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance 

Appeals (the "Board") involving the Department of Labor and Industries 

(the "Department") citations for asbestos workplace violations. At issue 

here are two projects BNB undertook as general contractor on a 

renovation project: carpet removal and "soft wall demolition." 

As required by law, before beginning any work BNB obtained a 

Good Faith Asbestos Survey ("GFS") from Earth Consulting Inc. ("ECI"), 

an accredited, independent testing company. The purpose of a GFS is to 

identify and test all suspect asbestos-containing materials (P ACMs) and 

issue a written report continning the presence, location and condition of 

any asbestos containing materials (ACMs). The property owner ordered 

and provided the GFS to BNB. In accord with industry practices and good 

construction principles, BNB carefully reviewed and relied upon the 

experts and the GFS. BNB planned to remove carpet only in the areas 

where the GFS indicated no asbestos was present. Relying on the GFS, 

BNB did not plan an asbestos project for carpet removal because no 

asbestos would be disturbed. For the "soft wall demolition" the GFS did 



not test "behind walls", so BNB followed appropriate safety protocols to 

avoid contact with, or disturbance of, asbestos within the walls. 

During carpet removal some tiles underneath the carpet stuck to 

the carpet and were removed with the carpet. The Department inspected 

later and tested the tile beneath the carpet. Their tests concluded the GFS 

was inaccurate; the tile contained asbestos. The Department cited BNB 

with asbestos violations because BNB had not followed required work 

practice regulations for a Class II Asbestos project, and other citations. 

Although BNB had obtained a GFS in accordance with law, the 

Board, and later the Superior Court, affirmed all asbestos violations 

despite BNB's reasonable reliance on the GFS, because they allege that 

BNB "should have known" the GFS was inaccurate. 

BNB did not know and could not reasonably have known asbestos 

was present in the tile beneath the carpet because it reasonably relied on 

the GFS. Moreover, it is standard operating procedures in the construction 

industry to rely on the GFS, and per statute, BNB must rely on the GFS. 

The Board inappropriately applied a strict liability standard to 

BNB by holding BNB should have known asbestos was present in the tile 

beneath the carpet, and BNB should have ignored the accredited testing 

agency whose express job it was to identify asbestos in the GFS. The 

Board's decision defies common sense and construction industry practice. 
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BNB acted in good faith and reasonably relied on the GFS. If the Board's 

decision is upheld, all contractors must, in addition to obtaining and 

relying reasonably on a GFS as required by law, maintain asbestos experts 

on site to second-guess the GFS, or face penalties and fines if the GFS is 

later found to have been inaccurate. This invalidates the laws requiring 

contractors to obtain a GFS in the first place. The Court should, therefore 

reverse the Board's decision and should vacate the citations against BNB. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Petitioner respectfully assigns error to the Decision & Order of the 

Board ofIndustrial Insurance Appeals dated October 4,2011 as follows: 

A. The Board erred in Findings of Fact Numbers: 4 - 18, 20 - 24; and 
Conclusions of Law Numbers: 2,4 and 51. 

B. BNB takes exception to the Board's Decision & Order at Page 2, lines 
16 - 19, wherein the Board declared: 

"The record is not clear as to whether Earth Consulting Inc., sampled 
flooring material underneath installed carpeting." 

C. BNB takes exception to the Board's Decision & Order at Page 3, lines 
12 - 14, wherein the Board declared: 

"The employer's actions in working with asbestos-containing 
materials once the employer had reason to believe such materials were 
present are more properly addressed by the other items cited." 

D. BNB takes exception to the Board's Decision & Order at Page 3, lines 
25 - 27, wherein the Board declared: 

"The record is clear that the employer stopped work when thermal 
system insulation was encountered. Nevertheless, the employer was 

I See Appendix A for a detailed description of each Assignment of Error for the Findings 
of Fact and Conclusions of Law. 
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engaged in Class II asbestos work." (emphasis added) . 

E. In Findings of Fact Numbers 5, 7, 9, 11, 13,15, 18, and 21, the Board 
respectfully erred by finding that, 

"The employer did not take measures to protect employees as soon as 
it had reason to suspect employees were working with asbestos
containing material." (Emphasis added). 

F. BNB respectfully asserts that the Board erred when it declared at Page 
2, lines 20 - 27 of the Decision & Order that: 

"During the removal of the carpeting in certain areas, the firm found 
that some of the floor tiles underneath the carpet were being lifted with 
the carpet. The labor supervisor, Robert Voss, became concerned that 
some of the tile and mastic could contain asbestos. He instructed 
employees to cut the carpet around the tile and discard it in the 
dumpster. Any tiles that came loose were double-bagged and placed in 
a room reserved for hazardous waste removal. Mr. Voss did not 
instruct or require the employees to take any specific measures to 
avoid exposure to asbestos. Later sampling by the Compliance Safety 
and Health Officer (CSHO) revealed that the tiles and mastic under the 
carpet was asbestos-containing material." 

III. ISSUES 

1. Where BNB obtained and reasonably relied on the GFS, the 
legal standard of reasonable diligence, does BNB's reasonable 
diligence require, as a matter of law, a finding that BNB did 
not, and could not with the exercise of reasonable diligence, 
know of the presence of the violation even though the survey 
was later found to be inaccurate? 

2. Where there was no objective data to support the finding, does 
the record substantially support a finding that BNB's should 
have known it could no longer reasonably rely on the GFS 
when BNB encountered tiles, which the GFS said were not 
ACM, coming up with the carpet they were removing? 

3. Is citing BNB for violations after they had conducted and 
followed the GFS amount to an imposition of strict-liability 
contrary to RCW 49.17.180(6), the law and the purpose of 
WISHA? 
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4. Is it error to affirm Item 1-9 citing BNB for failure to properly 
clean up asbestos debris when BNB is not a certified asbestos 
abatement contractor, there was no evidence BNB was caused 
the debris, and such clean up was beyond their scope of work? 

5. Is it error to affirm Item 2-3 when it is not support by 
substantial facts? 

6. Is it error to affirm the increased penalties stemming from a 
"poor" rating for good faith when there was no factual basis 
for such a rating? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

BNB was a general contractor that was hired by the property 

owner, Menachem Mendel SC ("MMSC"), to renovate an old abandoned 

building formerly known as the Waldo Hospital into a school. The 

property owner provided an asbestos GFS. See Exhibit 35. 

BNB engaged in carpet removal and removal of lathe and plaster 

from walls or "soft wall demolition" and before beginning work, as 

required by law, BNB used the GFS to plan these projects. BNB did not 

treat the carpet removal as an asbestos project because the GFS said no 

asbestos would be disturbed. For the "soft wall demolition" the GFS did 

not test "behind walls", so BNB followed appropriate safety protocols to 

avoid contact with, or disturbance of, asbestos within the walls. 

During the carpet removal some of the tiles underneath the carpet 

stuck to the carpet and were removed with the carpet. BNB was aware of 
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the tile under the carpet because the GFS indicated it had been tested and 

contained no asbestos. Later, the Department conducted a WISHA 

inspection testing the tile beneath the carpet. L&I's laboratory concluded 

the GFS was inaccurate, and the tile contained asbestos. The Department 

then concluded BNB' s project was a Class II asbestos project and cited 

BNB with asbestos violations because BNB did not follow the work 

practice regulations needed for asbestos removal. Citation No. 313918351; 

See Appendix A for a listing of the citations and brief description. 

The Department also alleged that BNB did not clean up asbestos 

debris resulting from the "soft wall demolition", and BNB did not have a 

respiratory protection program. Citation No. 313918351 Item 1-9,2-3. 

The Department originally cited BNB for failing to obtain a GFS 

that accurately identified the tiles beneath the carpet. Citation No. 

313918351 Item 1-8. However, the Board found BNB had obtained a GFS 

and vacated that violation. The Board, and later the Superior Court, then 

affirmed all of the asbestos violations despite this finding. 

1. At the time of the inspection, BNB was hired to perform a soft 
demolition project, not a Class II Asbestos Project. 

BNB specifically advised the property owner that it would hire 

asbestos abatement contractors to remove asbestos and that BNB itself 

would not engage in the removal of hazardous materials for the project. As 
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set forth in the exclusions section of the contract, admitted as Exhibit 38, 

page 3 under "Exclusions", "AbatementlRemoval of hazardous materials." 

was specifically excluded from the contract between MMSC and BNB. 

Because asbestos had been identified by the GFS, BNB was aware that 

asbestos needed to be removed. BNB did not perform any work in the 

areas where the GFS indicated the presence of asbestos. For example, 

BNB did not remove carpet in the basement where the GFS identified 

asbestos in the tiles under the carpet. 

Steve Carling, BNB's Project Engineer for the MMSC project 

received bids from certified asbestos abatement contractor, including PAS, 

a certified asbestos abatement contractor. Id at page 157, lines 7 - 11. 

BNB hired PAS to remove asbestos at MMSC project. Carling at page 

160, lines 11 - 13. Not only did BNB recognize asbestos was present in 

certain locations, BNB also recognized asbestos could only be removed by 

a certified asbestos abatement contractor. This establishes BNB followed 

reasonable industry practice in addressing asbestos identified by the GFS. 

It is undisputed BNB hired PAS, a certified asbestos abatement 

contractor, before WISHA began its inspection. As testified by Janine 

Rees, the WISHA Compliance Officer, PAS was present at the jobsite 

when the Department first started its WISHA inspection. In fact, PAS had 

begun removing asbestos before the WISHA inspection began. Ms. Rees 
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specifically precluded PAS from removing Asbestos Containing Material 

(ACM) on the day of the inspection. Rees at page 24, lines 21 - 24. 

The project called for "soft demolition". That is, removal of non 

structural portions of the building. As shown in Exhibit 30, BNB workers 

removed base board, carpet, cabinets, shelving, doors, and wall plaster. 

None of these items were reported to contain asbestos in the ECI Survey. 

2. The Eel good faith asbestos survey specifically addressed the 
areas where BNB was working at the time of the inspection. 

On February 15 and 16, 2007, Earth Consulting Incorporated 

(hereinafter "ECI") conducted a good faith inspection of the property for 

Prescott Homes, Inc, the prior owner. MMSC provided this report to BNB 

as part of the initial bid process. ECI stated the following: 

and 

"At the time of our site visits on February 15 and 16,2007, 
an AHERA Certified Building Inspector observed building 
materials with the main building and outbuildings for 
suspected ACMs. ECI collected random bulk samples of 
suspect ACM. (Certification documentation is attached to 
this report as Appendix A.). Our approach followed ECI's 
understanding of what constitutes the responsibilities of a 
'prudent person' and 'state of the art' practice for these 
types of actIvItIes. This was achieved by the 
implementation of bulk sampling methods." Section 2.0 of 
Exhibit 35. 

"A total of 87 bulk samples of the 9-inch and 12-inch vinyl 
floor tiles and mastic, vinyl flooring and mastics, cement 
asbestos wallboard, thermal insulation, and asphaltic 
roofing materials were collected." Section 2.2 of Exhibit 35 
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ECI followed proper required protocols. 

"Bulk samples of suspect ACM were analyzed by Materials 
Testing Inc., (NVLAP lab No. 101571) of Boise, Idaho. 
ACM samples were analyzed using the PLM method. 
Examination of these samples was conducted for the 
presence of identifiable asbestos fibers in accordance with 
EPA method 600/R-931116. Detection limits for ACM 
ranged from an upper detection limit of 100 percent to a 
lower detection limit of less than 1 percent. Laboratory 
quality assurance and internal precision values were 
assessed by performing duplicate and replicate sample 
analyses." Exhibit 35, Section 2.3 

The ECI Survey clearly covered the tiles underneath the carpet in 

the hallways. Mr. Campbell reiterated he fully relied on the survey and 

had no reason to question ECI (Tr. 2/15/11, p. 148, lines 18-25): 

Q. And was there anything that would have prompted you to come to 
this conclusion that the good faith survey that you're relying on 
was inadequate? 

A. No. And I mean, based on the other samples I took out there, if I 
would have thought the floor tile was suspect I would have 
sampled it. There was no reason for me not to sample it if there 
was any indication I needed to. I did other areas so why wouldn't I 
do this. 

Mr. Mark Hamper an employee with Performance Abatement 

Services (hereinafter "PAS") became familiar with the building when 

BNB subcontracted with PAS to engage in asbestos abatement. (Tr. 

1/14111, p. 131-132). Mr. Hamper agreed that if a GFS indicates tile does 

not have asbestos, PAS would rely on the survey and would not have any 

reason to re-test. (Tr. 1/14111, p. 161). Mr. Hamper testified to the review 
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of the bulk sample results and recognized the ability of the general 

contractor for reliance (Tr. 1114111, p. 166, lines 8-2 & p. 167-168): 

Q. Okay. And so looking at those bulk sample results, 
where it says ND, that would stand for non-detect? Is that 
what ND stands for? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So the table section would indicate to the reader of 
this exhibit that vinyl tile at this MMSC location was, in 
fact, sampled to determine if it contained asbestos or not; 
isn't that true? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And so you would look at that table to determine 
whether or not tile was in fact tested; correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And based on looking at this table, you would agree 
that the report would tell the reader that the tile in fact at 
this school was tested; correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Your training is that the good-faith survey is 
performed by an AHERA accredited building inspector? 

A. Yes. 

Furthermore, Mr. Casey Blake as the general superintendent for 

BNB, testified if they had received any complaints about the tile or bulk 

sample in the GFS they would have stopped work. (Tr. 3/3111, p. 10, lines 

7 -15). There was nothing that occurred to give reason for doubting the 

GFS. Safety consultant, Mr. Herb Heinold, supported the industry practice 
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that general contractors rely on good faith surveys (Tr. 3/3/11, p. 34, lines 

4-21 ): 

Q. In the construction industry, do general contractors 
rely on good faith surveys? 

A. Yes, we do. 

Q. Why do you do that? 

A. Because the expertise of the contractor that's doing 
the good faith survey tells us what to be aware of and what 
areas satisfactory to work in. 

Q. You mentioned there's a difference between general 
contractors and sub-contractors? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Why do general contractors hire sub-contractors? 

A. Well, one they have the expertise and then they 
have the actual materials and equipment to do the job that 
you need to be done. 

Q. And so in your opinion - or do you have an opinion 
as to whether or not general contractors will rely on a good 
faith survey? 

A. In my experience we do rely on the good faith 
survey. 

Mr. Lee worked with BNB since 2005 and opined that BNB made 

efforts to comply with WISHA and asbestos regulations. (Tr. 3/3/11 , p. 

57-58). In review of the GFS, Mr. Lee agreed it was sufficient. When 

asked whether the GFS indicated it was okay to remove the carpet, Mr. 

Lee answered as follows (Tr. 3/3/11 p. 71-72, lines 23-26 & 1-5): 
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A. For a general contractor being a lay person they 
would see it as sufficient. It has the basic elements that 
they 're supposed to look for: That it was done by an 
AHERA certified or accredited inspector; that they took 
samples they talked about; the materials that they took they 
have sample results; sample results based on materials. 
Some material have it, some materials don ' t. At that level, 
at that basic level, they would certainly assume this was a 
fine inspection. 

3. The Eel sample showed that areas underneath the carpet did 
not contain asbestos. 

The Board found "the record is not clear as to whether Earth 

Consulting Inc., sampled flooring material underneath installed carpeting. 

BNB believed such sampling had been completed down to the subfloor." 

Pg 2 D&O. The Board found the GFS was incomplete. Pg 3. The Board 

found BNB failed to take appropriate measures, and BNB "had reason to 

believe [asbestos-containing materials] were present", when encountering 

the vinyl flooring which came up with the carpet. Pg 3. D&O. 

Close examination of Table 1 of Exhibit 35 indicates that ECI took 

87 bulk samples, 35 of which were specifically for vinyl tile and/or mastic. 

Mr. Mark Hamper testified the scope of the GFS included the hallway 

where carpet was removed by BNB employees. 

The GFS showed testing of vinyl tile under the carpet at: 1) MA-

B15-1 (photograph 3) - 5%, Basement; 2) MA-BI7-1 (photograph 4) -

5%, Basement; 3) MA-B23-1 (photograph 5) - >1%, Basement; 4) VT-

B2-1 (photograph 14) - 5%, Basement; and 5) VT-B4-1 (photograph 15)-
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5%, Basement. 

Samples M3, U3 and U5 of Exhibit 35 (main and upper floors), 

specifically included samples from underneath the carpet in the hallway 

where BNB workers later removed carpet. These samples indicated that 

there was no asbestos containing material under the carpet. 

ECI specifically tested the main hallways at VT6-M3-1 (on the 

main floor); MA-U3-1 and MG-U3-1 (on the upper floor); and VT-B3-1 

(in the basement). Only the tile in the basement was shown as ACM. 

Additionally ECI tested tile under the carpet in an upper floor room at 

VT9-U 5-1. Except for the tile in the basement, each of the above samples 

results indicated, "NAD" or "No Asbestos Detected". BNB limited carpet 

removal to those areas where the GFS indicated no ACM existed. 

As is standard with all Good Faith Inspections, there was a 

"limitations" section. In relevant part, this section stated as follows: 

"This report does not address the potential presence of 
ACM located behind walls and/or columns, beneath 
flooring, above non-removable ceilings, underground, or in 
any inaccessible areas. Should suspect ACM be uncovered 
during demolition activities, it should be sampled, tested, 
and characterized at that time." Exhibit 35, Section 3.0. 

Mr. Larry Lee, a Certified Industrial Hygienist, further testified 

that the ECI asbestos survey was limited, but nevertheless addressed all 

areas within the scope of work intended to be performed by BNB. Section 
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3.0 provided standard limitations. The ECI survey, consistent with 

industry practice, advised that its report did not address areas that were 

inaccessible, and BNB planned accordingly to avoid disturbing any 

asbestos containing materials. 

The Board found BNB believed the GFS included sampling and 

testing down to the subfloor. D&O p 3. 

4. Large holes in the carpet indicated that Eel had sampled the 
tile beneath the carpet and the GFS was carefully read and 
relied on by BNB. 

Before any carpet was removed, Mr. Carling and Mr. Bob Voss 

both observed large areas of carpet that had been cut out. (Tr. 2115111, p. 

38-39, Tr. 2115111, p. 168, lines 6-18). In fact, the building owner was 

upset because that carpet could not be salvaged. 

Both Mr. Voss and Mr. Peter Campbell reviewed the GFS and 

planned their work based on the representations made by the survey. 

Specifically, Mr. Voss referred to the survey as the jobsite "Bible" due to 

the extensive and continual reference back to the document. (Tr. 2115111, 

p. 35, lines 4-20). 

The tile in the hallways appeared to BNB to be homogenous to the 

tile in the rooms where the ECI survey indicated that the vinyl tile, both 

9x9 and 12x 12, did not contain asbestos and the mastic was free of 

asbestos. Based on the survey, and site observations, Bob Voss concluded 
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that neither the tile under the carpet nor the mastic contained asbestos. At 

no point in time did Ms. Rees speak with Earth Consulting, the individuals 

that actually performed the GFS. (Tr. 1114111, p. 69, lines 1-8).

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