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

v. ARGUMENT 

A. The Legislature Has Recognized That Asbestos Is Inherently 
Dangerous 

The Legislature has ordered the Department to enact asbestos 

regulations in order to protect workers from asbestos exposure. In RCW 

49.26.010, the Legislature expressly recognized that asbestos is an 

inherently dangerous material, stating: 

Air-borne asbestos dust and particles, such as those from 
sprayed asbestos slurry, asbestos-coated ventilating ducts, 
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and certain other applications of asbestos are known to 
produce irreversible lung damage and bronchogenic 
carcinoma. One American of every four dying in urban 
areas of the United States has asbestos particles or dust in 
his lungs. The nature of this problem is such as to 
constitute a hazard to the public health and safety, and 
should be brought under appropriate regulation. 

The Legislature accordingly adopted a comprehensive set of 

statutory provisions regarding exposure to asbestos. RCW 49.26. Under 

these statutory provisions, all "construction, renovation, remodeling, 

maintenance, repair or demolition" projects with a "reasonable possibility 

of disturbing or releasing asbestos into the air" must be inspected, and all 

of the precautions mandated by the asbestos regulations must be put into 

place before any work begins on a project. RCW 49.26.013. Asbestos 

regulations are . implemented and enforced, "including penalties, 

violations, citations, and other administrative procedures" under WISHA. 

RCW 49.26.140. 

Under this legislative mandate, the Department enacted rules for 

all occupational exposures to asbestos in all industries covered by RCW 

49.17. WAC 296-62-077 through -07755. The fundamental purpose of 

these regulations is to protect workers from asbestos exposure, which is 

critical since exposure to asbestos is known to result in serious injury or 

death. In re Walkenhauer & Assoc., Inc., No. 91 W088, 1993 WL 

453604, *3 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. Appeals Sept. 7, 1993). Thus, the 
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Legislature has recognized the danger of asbestos and the asbestos 

regulations should be construed to ensure worker safety. See Inland 

Foundry Co., v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 106 Wn. App. 333, 336, 24 P.3d 

424 (2001). 

Here, WAC 296-65-003 establishes that an asbestos abatement 

project is an asbestos project involving three square feet or three linear 

feet, or more, of asbestos containing material. This in turn triggers 

application of several regulations, including WAC 296-65-030, and the 

other regulations cited in the citation issued to BNB. These regulations 

should be given effect to further the legislative intent to protect workers. 

Asbestos containing material is defined by WAC 296-62-07703: 

"Asbestos-containing material (ACM) means any material containing 

more than 1 % asbestos." But the term "asbestos" in the standard includes 

material that is presumed to be asbestos containing. Id. Under the 

asbestos regulatory scheme, it would have been sufficient to prove the 

Department's violations that the workers were exposed to PACM. WAC 

296-62-07721 (1)(b) . Unfortunately, the workers in this case were, in fact, 

exposed to asbestos particles when they ripped up carpet/tile/mastic, 

removed cove base and mastic, and performed wall demolition. BR 

Weston 78-81. 
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The reason this inspection took place was because an employee 

complained to the Department that employees were being exposed to 

asbestos. BR Weston at 89. Following the inspection, NVL Labs 

identified almost all mastic and tile onsite as ACM. BR Ex. 24 at 343-44, 

346-47. Department inspector Rees collected samples at the work site 

from bags Voss instructed employees to bag, seal, and place in the 

designated asbestos room. Those samples came back positive for 

asbestos. BR Rees 1112/11 at 124-27; BR Ex. 27. 

BNB has never denied that it failed to comply with the applicable 

asbestos regulations. This failure to comply with the asbestos rules caused 

the worker exposure to ACM that is the basis for the violations at issue in 

this matter. 

As a non-certified asbestos contractor, BNB was not in a good 

position to be able to deal with asbestos hazards, as evidenced by how 

BNB mishandled the ACM at the worksite. BR Rees 1112111 at 140-42. 

Accordingly, the Department appropriately cited BNB for serious 

violations ofthe asbestos rules. 

B. Substantial Evidence Supports Finding That BNB Knew, or 
Through the Exercise of Reasonable Diligence, Could Have 
Known of the Violative Conditions For Which BNB Was Cited 

Employers are statutorily mandated to comply with all rules and 

regulations the Department promulgates under WISHA. Superior Asphalt 
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& Concrete Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 121 Wn. App. 601, 604, 89 

P.3d 316 (2004); RCW 49.17.060(2). The Department cited BNB for 

several serious violations of WISHA. RCW 49.17 .180( 6) provides that a 

serious violation exists when there is a substantial probability that death or 

serious physical harm could result from the employer's practices: 

if there is a substantial probability that death or serious 
physical harm could result from a condition which exists, 
or from one or more practices, means, methods, operations, 
or processes which have been adopted or are in use in such 
workplace, unless the employer did not, and could not with 
the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence 
of the violation. 

Case law enumerates the elements the Department must prove in 

order to make its prima facie case with regard to a serious violation. The 

Department must demonstrate that: 

(I) the cited standard applies; (2) the requirements of the 
standard were not met; (3) employees were exposed to, or 
had access to, the violative condition; (4) the employer 
knew or, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, 
could have known of the violative condition; and (5) there is 
a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm 
could result from the violative condition. 

Wash. Cedar & Supply Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 119 Wn. 

App. 914, 83 P.3d 1012 (2003) (quoting D.A. Collins Constr. Co. v. Sec 'y 

of Labor, 117 F.3d 691,694 (2nd Cir. 1997)) (emphasis added). 

In applying the above five elements of a serious violation to this 

matter, with the exception of two violations of the citation discussed 
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below, BNB disputes only one element. See App's Br. at 3_5.7 BNB 

contests element four, the requirement for a serious violation that there be 

actual or constructive knowledge. See App's Br. at 3-5. 

In fact, most of BNB's argument focuses on the "knowledge" 

element of a WISHA citation by arguing that, because BNB relied upon 

the 2007 asbestos survey, it could not have known its actions were 

hazardous. E.g., App's Br. at 23, 27, 28. This argument fails because, as 

shown below, BNB had knowledge of the violative conditions occurring at 

the worksite, and let these conditions to continue for at least ten days until 

the Department shut the worksite down. BR Rees 1112111 at 20-21. 

Moreover, there are at least five ways that the Department proved 

knowledge, and anyone of them provides substantial evidence to support 

the Board's findings. 

Because the Department only needs to show that "the employer 

knew or, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, could have known 

of the violative condition," knowledge can be either actual or constructive. 

Wash. Cedar, 119 Wn. App. at 914; RCW 49.17.180(6). Here, there is 

7 This is with the exception of its claims regarding violations 1-9 and 2-3. See 
App' s Sr. at 3-5 . 
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substantial evidence that BNB had both actual and constructive knowledge 

of the violative conditions. 8 

1. BNB Demonstrated Its Actual Knowledge of the 
Violative Conditions by Treating the Material as 
Asbestos-Containing 

The Board found that BNB had reason to suspect that its 

employees were working with asbestos. BR 5-8 (Decision and Order, FF 

5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 18, 21). These findings are supported by substantial 

evidence. The conduct by BNB's management demonstrates actual 

knowledge that the employees were exposed to asbestos. Voss, the 

foreman/supervisor, was present at the worksite on every day in question. 

BR Ex. 30. Voss's treatment of the vinyl tile evidences BNB's knowledge 

that the tiles were not asbestos-free. Two employees testified on separate 

days that Voss instructed them to bag, seal and segregate any broken tiles 

because they contained asbestos. BR Pennington at 8-10; BR Weston at 

77. 

This is consistent with what Voss told inspector Rees when he 

admitted he suspected the mastic contained asbestos: 

8 App's. Br. 29-33discusses several state and federal asbestos cases. Because 
the issue here is a fact specific inquiry whether there is substantial evidence to support 
the Board's findings, the applicability of these cases to this matter is not at issue. For 
example, several cases are cited that hold that if an employer exercises "reasonable 
diligence," there is no "knowledge" of the alleged violation. (e.g., North American 
Rockwell Corp., 2 BNA OS He 1710 (1975)). The Department agrees with this statement 
of the law. However, it begs the question of whether BNB has exercised reasonable 
diligence in this matter. 
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Mr. Voss stated . .. that he suspected that the mastic that 
adhered the tile to the floor contained asbestos, and he 
directed the workers, the BNB workers to take tile that had 
been pulled up when the carpet had been stripped up, to 
wrap that material and seal it in plastic and place it in a 
storage room, and that he had contacted, he being 
BNBuilders, had contacted a certified asbestos abatement 
contractor to remove those materials and dispose of them as 
asbestos-containing material. 

BR Rees 1112/11 at 40. 

Voss treated the materials as asbestos-containing for disposal 

purposes, but not for purposes of protecting BNB' s workers from 

exposure to asbestos. BR Pennington at 8-10. 

BNB makes a number of arguments about Voss's knowledge, 

including pointing to his testimony where he claims did not know there 

was asbestos. See App's Br. at 18, 39. BNB argues that the different 

treatment of the disposal of the tiles was purely a waste sorting exercise 

for recycling purposes. See App's Br. at 18, 39. The flaw in these 

arguments is that they mistake the standard of review applicable here. 

BNB asks this Court to reweigh the testimony and accept Voss's version 

of events, and reject both the consistent testimony of three witnesses 

CRees, Pennington, Weston), and the inferences reasonably drawn from the 

segregation by Voss of the suspected asbestos material into a storage 

room. But the Court of Appeals does not reweigh the evidence. See 

Greene, 97 Wn. App. at 714. Here, the evidence that Voss suspected there 
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was asbestos is substantial evidence to support the Board's findings of 

fact. 

BNB focuses on the Board's statement BNB had reason to 

"suspect" there was asbestos. It then argues that mere "suspicion" is not 

enough; rather the standard is "knowledge." App's Br. at 32, 34, 36-37. 

BNB similarly argues it is "undisputed" that it lacked specific knowledge 

regarding inadequacies in the survey. App's Br. at 37. These arguments 

are without merit for several reasons. 

First, BNB had actual knowledge, not a "mere suspicion" about the 

asbestos. It was relying on a good faith survey that had major limitations 

and BNB had rejected recommendations it obtain a more comprehensive 

survey. BNB apparently adopted a "see no evil" approach that guaranteed 

it would not know exactly where asbestos was located at its worksite, even 

though it knew about the asbestos' presence. Such conduct cannot be 

rewarded. Second, BNB employees had complained to BNB management 

that they were concerned for their safety and thought they were working 

with asbestos. BR Weston at 72-73,82,88. Rather than stopping work or 

providing protection, BNB's response was to call a meeting with the 

employees to reassure them that they were safe. BR Ex. 52 at 2. Third, 

BNB's careful segregation of asbestos containing material evidences far 

more knowledge than "mere suspicion." The Court of Appeals views the 
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evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the prevailing party. Karst v. McMahon, 136Wn. App. 202, 

206, 148 P.3d 1081 (2006). Certainly, a reasonable inference of 

knowledge of the asbestos may be drawn by BNB' s actions in carefully 

segregating the asbestos material. 

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, RCW 49.17 .180( 6) requires 

an employer to exercise reasonable diligence. Here Voss admitted to the 

inspector that he had reason to believe that there was asbestos present and 

he admitted to two workers that there was asbestos in the materials, yet 

work continued on the project. See BR Rees 1112111; BR Pennington at 8-

10; BR Weston at 77. This is not reasonable diligence. 

2. BNB Had Knowledge When Its Employees Voiced 
Concerns About Asbestos 

BNB's actual knowledge of the violative conditions is also 

evidenced by the fact that at least two employees at the worksite 

complained regarding asbestos exposure to Voss, its foreman. BR 

Pennington at 8-9,55; BR Weston at 72-73,82. 

On January 11, 2010, BNB' s general superintendent demonstrated 

management's actual knowledge of asbestos exposure when he wrote 

notes stating that "there were a lot of concerned people on our approach to 
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the demolition decided to have a quick meeting with the guys and tell 

them by no way do we want people exposed to hazards." Ex. 52 at 2. 

3. BNB Had Knowledge When It Directed Carpet and 
Vinyl Tile Removal in Areas Not Covered by the Good 
Faith Survey 

The regulations presume that certain material, like vinyl tile 

installed before 1980, is ACM unless the employer rebuts that 

presumption by producing a good faith survey that shows that the pre-

1980 vinyl tiles are not asbestos containing. WAC 296-62-

07721(1)(b),(10)(a)(ix).9 BNB inaccurately argues that its 2007 survey 

rebuts such a presumption. App's Br. at 34. BNB performed work 

outside of the limitations of the good faith survey. It is not reasonable to 

rely on a survey for areas it did not cover. BNB claims, without citation to 

the record, that "The Board found BNB believed the GFS indicated the 

tiles did not contain asbestos." App's. Br. at 32. It also asserts "The 

Board found BNB had been reasonably diligent and reasonably believed it 

was following the GFS." App's Br. at 35. Neither of these statements can 

9 WAC 296-62-07721 (1 )(b) provides: 
Asphalt and vinyl flooring installed no later than 1980 also must be 
treated as asbestos-containing. The employer or building owner may 
demonstrate that PACM and flooring materials do not contain asbestos 
by complying with WAC 296-62-07712 (lO)(a)(ix). 

WAC 296-62-07712(lO)(a)(ix) provides: 
Resilient flooring material including associated mastic and backing 
must be assumed to be asbestos-containing unless an industrial 
hygienist determines that it is asbestos-free using recognized analytical 
techniques. 
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be found in the Board's Decision and Order, and are not inferences that 

may be drawn under the substantial evidence standard of review. 

Moreover, the work site had many different types of tile and 

mastic. Given this checkerboard pattern, it is not reasonable to assume 

that if one type of tile or mastic is tested that means that other types are 

asbestos free. See BR Rees 1112111 at 38. 

When BNB sent workers to rip up a section of carpet that was 

outside of the scope of the 2007 survey, it had knowledge it was in 

violation of the asbestos rules. This is because it knew it was working in a 

building checkered with different kinds of vinyl tile and mastic, some of 

which had been tested, and some of which had not. See BR Rees 1112111 

at 38. Thus, when it required workers to perform demolition work in areas 

outside of the limitations of the survey, it acted with knowledge that it was 

placing employees at risk. Indeed, the Board recognized that information 

in the survey would lead BNB to know about the presence of asbestos 

when the Board found that the survey could be used to determine if the 

material to be demolished contained asbestos. BR 8 (Decision and Order 

FF 19). 
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a. The Worksite Had a Checkerboard of Different 
Tiles and Mastics, Which Was Readily Apparent 

BNB argues that, because some types of tile and mastic appeared 

on the 2007 survey, it was reasonable for BNB to assume that these 

samples were representative of all of the untested tiles and mastic at the . 

worksite. E.g., App's Br. at 34. BNB's argument fails because the tile 

and mastic types present at the worksite were not homogenous and those 

differences were readily apparent to the unaided eye. BR Rees 1/12111 at 

38. Because the differences were readily apparent to the unaided eye, 

reasonable diligence on BNB' s part would lead it to treat the different tile 

as P ACM and not assume they were the same type of tile as tested in the 

2007 survey. Because of these easily observable differences, if BNB 

encountered a different tile or mastic than that covered in the survey, 

reasonable diligence would lead it to treat the tile as P ACM. 

The worksite was replete with non-homogenous types of tile. Rees

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